Tidgrove, in the tithing of North Oakley, in the parish of Kingsclere

1086  Manor of Titegrave in Domesday Book

1172. The sheriff of Hampshire claimed credit for an expenditure of £31 9s. 7d. on the king’s houses at Tidgrove.

1176. Wine sent to Tidgrove on the orders of Henry II.

1177. The sheriff of Hampshire claimed Credit for £7 16s. for work on the king’s chapel at Tidgrove.

1178. Further expenditure on work to the buildings at Tidgrove at a cost of £24 18s in preparation for the king’s visit the following year.

1179. In corrediis Regis apud Titegravum lxiij s. et iv d. per breve regis.

1180-1183. King’s houses at Freemantle ( Tidgrove name change) under construction.

6 July 1189. Henry II died.

1193 to 1202. Between these dates Priory of Sandelford founded.

26 April 1230 Gregory II confirms to the Priory its possessions.

10 July 1233 Confirmation by Henry III of grants to Sandelford Priory does not include Tidgrove.

Temp. Henry III Grant to the Priory by Batholomew Chrok of the land of Hamton; paying to Thomas Launceleueye six shillings and two pence, and a pair of spurs value six pence to the lord of the fee.
 [Hamton (Hannington) does not otherwise appear in the possessions of the Priory or its successor. The reasonable conclusion is that the land concerned is Tidgrove.]

Late 13th cent. Confirmation by Sir Roger Lanceleueye of a gift to the Priory by Sir John Lanceleueye his father and Bartholomew Croc of land in his fee of Hamton, at the payment of half a mark and royal service.

Before 1241. Tidgrove passed into the possession of the priory of Sandelford.

1241. John de Lancelevy, lord of the manor of Hannington Lancelevey, gave up his right to common of pasture in the prior’s land of Tidgrove.

15 Feb 1290 Release to the Priory by Sir Roger Lanceleue,, son and heir of John Lanceleue, knight, of right in land had of the gift of Bartholomew Crok in Hamtone, for a rental of six pence, for which release the Priory gave four marks.

About 1290 Confirmation by John Launcelue son and heir of Roger Lanceleue to the Priory of land which they have by gift of Bartholomew Croc in his fee in Hamtun.

Late 13th cent. Grant by John Lanceleue to Bartholomew Croc of land in Hanitun, formerly held by Adam Scuir at a rental of two shillings and six pence; and a pair of spurs value six pence to Dan Roger Lanceleuee Lord of the fee.

Late 13th cent. Inspeximus of above by Roger Lanceleuee, brother of John.

1280. Prior of Sandelford was forced to acknowledge that he owed suit at the king’s hundred court of Kingsclere for his possessions in the parish.

[1310 Edward II granted the manor of Polhampton for life to William de Horwode and Christine his wife at a rent of £10, but shortly afterwards granted them . . .  the pasture called Kyngeslese in the parish of Kingsclere, to hold by the rent of . . . £2 for the pasture.
 [Kyngeslese not Tidgrove]

1346. Prior of Sandelford was stated to be holding the eighth part of a fee in Tidgrove.

1478. Priory of Sandelford was appropriated to St. George’s Chapel, Windsor.

24 Feb 1479. Lease to Thomas Langford of Kyngesclere, of a pasture called Tydgrove for thirty years. Rent: 23s. 4d. and ten couple of coneys at Christmas.

21 June 1499. Lease to John Gobarde of Kyngesclere and his wife Cecilia of the pasture called Tydgrove. Rent: as before.

20 Oct 1523. Lease to William Knyght of Oakley of the pasture called Tydgrove for thirty years. Rent: as before.

17 & 22 March 1541. Lease to George Scampyon of New Windsor for sixty years of the pasture called Tydgrove. Rent 23s. 4d. and ten couple of conies.

25 April 1575. Tithing of Okelye.

John Knight, of errable land in the Fields 1 ac., of errable pasture ground lx ac., of medow ground ij ac., of wood ground ij ac.


John Knight of Tydgrove, of errable pasture ground lx ac.


John Knight for Wackeridge, of errable pasture ground xx ac.

1586. Hampshire Lay Subsidy, Tithing of Oakeley and Hanyton Lances John Knight: goods £7 tax 7s.

20 Feb 1595. Lease to Humphrey Taylor of Newberye, gent. of [“a tenement (not long since built and not mentioned in this lease to Taylor nor, then built as it seemed”]of certain lands or pastures called Tidgrove, late, in occupation of John Knight, for 21 years. Woods and underwoods excepted. Rent: as before. The tenant to make all fences, and to bear all manner of charges. He may take hedgebote. If rent unpaid for 2 months lease to be void.

8 April 1605. Lease to John Knight of Kingsclere, yeoman, of the pastures called Tydgrave: 400 acres abutting on the King’s Highway from Kings Clere to Oakley on the east, Palampton [Polehampton] ground on the west, Okelye Down to the south, land called Wakeridge to the north, (woods reserved) for 21 years at 23s 4d. John Knight renewed 10 years and a month, fine £40 and 3 couple of conies at Christmas added. Rent now 23s. 4d. & 13 couple of conies. The tenant to fence, for which he may take hedgebote, to bear all manner of charges, not to alienate without license, and if rent unpaid 30 days lease void.

20 March 1607. A trial, at the assizes Winchester, with the Church for 6 acres of land in North Oakley parish. Q: whether any lands in Oakley be demised

17 Oct 1611. Lease to John Knight renewed for 21 years. He renewed 5 years and a half: fine £6 13s. 4d. It is noted that the tenant has been at great expense in a suit for part of the estate, also the tenant has built a house and 2 barns and therefore no fine. Conditions as before, with an additional requirement to repair.

4 Nov 1616. Lease of barn, stable and pastures renewed for 21 years to William Knight, of Kingsclere yeoman, John Knight being dead. He renewed five years, fine: £6 13s 4d. Covenants and conditions as before, with an addition to repair. 13 couple conies “to be brought safe and sweet” at Christmas.

9 April 1624. Lease to William Knight renewed for 7 years and a half, fine £12 and 3 couples more a year. Note by Canon Frith: It contains about 140 acres of land but the most part of it very barren and a conie warren. A parcel of about 5 or 6 acres is full of underwood and trees but none of thorn timber.

28 Aug 1632. A rental made by John Deane of the manor called Eastenborne. Includes land in Enborne, Newbery, Greenham, Newtown, Kingsclere, Tidgrove, Pamber.

6 Feb 1661. Lease of Tidgrave to Peter White, yeoman, for 50s, on same terms as William Knight occupied it.

1665. Hearth Tax Assessment: Peter Whicher [=Peter White?] 2 hearths chargeable.

6 Dec 1669. 8 May 1677, and 7 May 1684. Lease to Peter White renewed.

5 June 1691. Lease renewed but now to John White, and again renewed 18 May 1698, 6 Dec. 1705.

1 Nov. 1712. Lease surrendered by John White for renewal to William Soper of Tidgrave, Warrener.

19 Nov. 1712. Lease to William Soper for 50s.

14 Nov. 1719, 18 November 1726. Lease renewed.

3 July 1738. Rate made at a vestry meeting. James Osman for Titgrove 3s. 8d.

4 Dec. 1740. Lease to Richard Soper of North Oakley, and William Dicker of Court Farm, Overton, Gentlemen, Executors of William Soper late of Tidgrave, on trust.

1832-40. Papers - Tidgrave in Kingsclere

1841. Tithe award:


Owner: John Webb : Occupier: the same

1840-61. Papers – Tidgrave in Kingsclere ; Restoration of Kingsclere Church 1850.
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